Key Elements of Robust Vocabulary Instruction for Emergent Bilingual Adolescents

Amy C. Crosson
Department of Curriculum and Instruction
College of Education
Pennsylvania State University
University Park, PA 16802

Margaret G. McKeown Learning Research and Development Center University of Pittsburgh Pittsburgh, PA 15260

Kelly P. Robbins University of Utah Reading Clinic 5242 So. College Drive, Suite 100 Murray, Utah 84123

Kathleen J. Brown University of Utah Reading Clinic 5242 So. College Drive, Suite 100 Murray, Utah 84123

Corresponding Author: Amy C. Crosson, 259 Chambers Building, College of Education, Penn State University, University Park, PA 16802; office: (814) 865-3351/ mobile: (617) 833-5315; crosson@psu.edu

Keywords: morphology, vocabulary, emergent bilinguals, language minority learners

# Running Head: VOCABULARY INSTRUCTION FOR EMERGENT BILINGUALS

Funding Statement: Funding was provided by Spencer Foundation (Grant No. Award #201400167 to Amy Crosson) and Institute of Education Sciences (Grant No. R305A160401 to Penn State University). The opinions expressed are those of the authors and do not represent views of the Institute or the U.S.

Department of Education.

Conflict of Interest Statement: There are no conflicts of interest for the authors associated with this manuscript.

Journal citation: Crosson, A. C., McKeown, M. G., Robbins, K. P., & Brown, K. J. (2019). Key elements of robust vocabulary instruction for emergent bilingual adolescents. *Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools, 50*(4), 493-505. doi:10.1044/2019\_LSHSS-VOIA-18-0127 Peer review process: https://academy.pubs.asha.org/asha-journals-author-resource-center/what-to-expect-in-peer-review/

# Table of Contents

Structured Abstract	4
Key Elements of Robust Vocabulary Instruction for Emergent Bilingual Adolescents	5
Background for Design Elements of EL RAVE	6
Emergent Bilinguals Benefit from Robust Vocabulary Instruction	6
Morphology Instruction Promotes Word Learning and Comprehension	11
Expanding the Focus of Morphology Intervention to Explicity Teach Latin Roots	14
Morphology Instruction: Five Design Principles	16
EL RAVE Intervention	16
EL Design Principles for Instruction with Emergent Bilinguals	20
Make Cross-Linguistic Connections to Other Latinate Languages	20
Teach Semantic Networks Among Words That Carry the Root	23
Explicitly Teach Orthographic and Phonological Shifts	24
Teach for Fluency of Access to Root Meanings	25
Emphasize a Flexible, Problem-Solving Orientation	25
EL RAVE: Evidence of Effectiveness from Implementation Trials	26
Study 1	26
Study 2	28
Study 3	28
Summary of Findings Across the Three Trials	30
Strategies for Adapting the Design Principles of EL RAVE in Clinical Settings	31
Conclusions	32
Acknowledgements	34

References	35
Tables	46
Table 1	46
Table 2	47
Descriptions of Supplemental Files	48
Supplemental File 1	49
Supplemental File 2	50
Supplemental File 3	51
Supplemental File 4	52
Supplemental File 5	53
Supplemental File 6	54

#### STRUCTURED ABSTRACT

**Purpose:** In this clinical focus, the authors argue for robust vocabulary instruction with emergent bilingual learners both in inclusive classroom settings and in clinical settings for emergent bilinguals with language and literacy disorders. Robust vocabulary instruction focuses on high-utility academic words that carry abstract meanings and appear in texts across content areas (e.g., diminish, ambiguous). For emergent bilinguals, vocabulary instruction should be infused with morphological analysis emphasizing Latin roots to support students to problemsolve meanings of new, unfamiliar words and make connections between semantic clusters of related words in English. An innovative and critical component of this instructional approach is to support emergent bilinguals to leverage their linguistic resources by making connections to their home languages. Five design principles for teaching emergent bilinguals to engage in morphological analysis with Latin roots are presented. These design principles are illustrated with examples of evidence-based practices from intervention materials for instruction. Examples are drawn from varied instructional contexts. We present a synthesis of findings from implementation trials of our instructional program. Finally, application of the approach to clinical settings for speech-language pathologists are addressed.

Conclusions: Clinical practice with emergent bilingual learners at intermediate and advanced stages of proficiency should incorporate robust vocabulary instruction for emergent bilinguals from a variety of cultural and linguistic backgrounds. Clinicians should focus on high-utility academic words and they should teach morphological problem-solving skills for generative word learning. Clinicians should leverage emergent bilingual learners' home language resources for developing morphological problem-solving skill.

Key Elements of Robust Vocabulary Instruction for Emergent Bilingual Adolescents

Emergent bilinguals—students who come from a home where a language other than English is spoken and who are in the process of developing English proficiency for accessing grade level content—represent the fastest growing group of students in U.S. schools, currently comprising nearly 10% of the school age population (U.S. Department of Education, 2017). Bilingualism offers extensive social, economic, and cognitive benefits (see Kroll & Dussias, 2016, for a review). Yet the road to bilingualism can be challenging for these students who often do not receive the quality and intensity of instruction needed to develop advanced language proficiency, but nonetheless are expected to quickly become adept at academic English in school. Their challenge is compounded by the fact that a majority of emergent bilingual learners in the United States attend schools with histories of low academic achievement, many of which are situated in high concentrations of poverty (Han, 2012; Snow, Burns, & Griffin, 1998). Thus, this diverse population is widely considered among the most vulnerable of learners, as indicated by disparities in academic achievement (U.S. Department of Education, 2013), low graduation rates (Rumberger, 2011), and lagging enrollment and degree attainment in postsecondary education (Kanno & Cromley, 2015). Moreover, emergent bilinguals with language and literacy disorders are often overlooked, or teachers and clinicians are uncertain about intervention practices that show promise to support academic language development (Geva, Xi, Massey-Garrison, & Mak, in press).

The purpose of this clinical focus article is to describe the background and motivation for a vocabulary intervention program we developed for middle school emergent bilingual learners. We situate this description in the context of a consensus around principles of effective

vocabulary instruction that has been established across various student populations. The program *English Learners' Robust Academic Vocabulary Encounters* (EL RAVE) adheres to these principles and adds a novel dimension by focusing on morphological analysis with Latin roots, which leverages students' linguistic assets (i.e., home languages) for learning when possible. We present a synthesis of findings from several implementations of EL RAVE and provide examples of interevention practices. In synthesizing findings, we detail the program's effectiveness with emergent bilinguals from a range of cultural and linguistic backgrounds and suggest how the instruction shows promise for use by speech-language pathologists working with emergent bilinguals with communication disorders in clinical settings.

# **Background for Design Elements of EL RAVE**

In this section, we provide an overview of research that led to the specific design elements incorporated into EL RAVE, our academic vocabulary intervention program for middle school emergent bilingual learners. The overview focuses on (a) the evidence base demonstrating that the consensus on effective vocabulary instruction characterized elsewhere in this clinical forum (e.g., McKeown) is directly relevant to and beneficial for addressing challenges of English literacy development facing emergent bilinguals; and (b) research findings demonstrating the advantages of teaching morphology as part of vocabulary instruction. This review also addresses implications of morphology instruction for students with language and literacy disorders.

#### **Emergent Bilinguals Benefit from Robust Vocabulary Instruction**

A puzzling, yet widely observed, pattern in the literacy development of emergent bilinguals is an "uneven profile" of language and literacy skills. Several cross-sectional and longitudinal studies have revealed that many emergent bilinguals whose phonological

processing, decoding, and word recognition skills are within a standard deviation or exceed grade-level norms in reading in English often perform one to two standard deviations below national norms on measures of listening and reading comprehension (Lesaux, 2006; Lesaux, Crosson, Kieffer, & Pierce, 2010; Lesaux & Siegal, 2003). A major mechanism driving this disconnect likely is vocabulary knowledge. Vocabulary knowledge in English has been repeatedly documented as an area of difficulty for emergent bilinguals in underresourced U.S. schools (August & Shanahan, 2006; Carlo et al., 2004; Galloway & Lesaux, 2015; Goldenberg, 2011; Kieffer, 2010; Lesaux, Kieffer, Faller, & Kelly, 2010; Nakamoto, Lindsey, & Manis, 2008; Proctor, Carlo, August, & Snow, 2005; Reed, Petscher, & Foorman, 2016; Uccelli, Galloway, Barr, Meneses, & Dobbs, 2015; Verhoeven, 2011) and is associated with comprehension difficulties (Mancilla-Martinez & Lesaux, 2010). Disparities in literacy outcomes between emergent bilinguals and their peers on the National Assessement of Educational Progress reading assessment have been shrinking over the last decade, and yet multilingual eighth graders (both currently and formerly designated English Learners) lagged 12 scale points behind monolingual learners in 2015 (Kieffer & Thompson, 2018). There is a tremendous need for educators to provide interventions to accelerate academic vocabulary learning of emergent bilingual adolescents, as effective interventions could have a significant impact on literacy outcomes and, ultimately, on comprehension outcomes (Galloway & Lesaux, 2015). For emergent bilinguals with language and literacy disorders, the role of clinicians in providing such interventions may be even more critical.

There is some evidence that the contribution of vocabulary knowledge to comprehension in the target language (L2) may have greater impact on bilingual students than on their native-speaking peers (Proctor et al., 2005; Verhoeven, 2000). Moreover, there is evidence that

emergent bilingual learners not only know fewer words but also tend to have looser semantic networks among words in their vocabularies (Verhoeven, 2011) and less developed metalinguistic knowledge about word parts (Carlo et al., 2004; Kieffer & Lesaux, 2012). Consequently, accessing word meanings may not operate efficiently enough to allow comprehension to proceed.

Interventions to promote vocabulary growth among emergent bilingual learners have shown that many underlying principles of effective instruction for emergent bilinguals align with those that have been proven effective for monolingual learners. In fact, a widely held consensus regarding effective vocabulary instruction has emerged from decades of research on practices that promote word learning (Baumann, Kame'enui, & Ash, 2003; McKeown, Beck, Omanson, & Pople, 1985; National Reading Panel [NRP], 2000; Stahl & Fairbanks, 1986). The following dimensions of effective or "robust" vocabulary instruction (Beck, McKeown, & Kucan, 2002) comprise essential components:

- focus on a small number of high-utility words including general academic words;
- provide both contextual and definitional information about target words;
- engage learners in multiple, diverse, high quality encounters; and
- incorporate frequent opportunities for interactions in which students talk about and use academic words.

A thorough discussion of the principles of robust instruction is found in Margaret McKeown's introductory article in this volume.

Experimental studies conducted over the last two decades have shown that interventions that embody many or all of the principles of robust instruction have been effective with emergent bilingual learners. For example, Carlo and colleagues' (2004) *Vocabulary Improvement Project* 

presented fifth grade emergent bilinguals with high-interest topics (e.g., immigration) and sets of carefully selected high-utility target words for each topic. Participants were Spanish-English bilinguals in the upper elementary grades of a transitional bilingual program. In addition to incorporating multiple encounters and definitional information about activities for interactions with the words, the intervention also taught students to be aware of polysemy and to make use of cognate relations (immigration-inmigración). Emergent bilinguals showed greater growth than a "business as usual" comparison group on knowledge of target words (including both synonym and depth of knowledge tasks), understanding polysemy, and reading comprehension.

More recently, Snow and colleagues (e.g., Lawrence, Capotosto, Branum-Martin, White, & Snow, 2012; Snow, Lawrence, & White, 2009) developed *Word Generation*, which similarly reflects many principles of robust instruction. Word Generation units are dilemma-driven; that is, they are designed to engage students in use of target general academic words to debate and write persuasively on topics of interest to adolescent audiences. Participants were linguistically diverse emergent bilinguals who were classified by the district as "limited English proficient." Overall, students in the intervention made sustained gains in word knowledge that were significantly greater than those in "business as usual" comparison groups, with the notable observation that emergent bilinguals at more advanced levels of English proficiency benefited more than students at earlier phases of English learning (Lawrence et al., 2012).

As another example, Lesaux and colleagues (2010) tested the Academic Language Instruction for All Students (ALIAS) intervention with linguistically diverse language minority learners – that is, students whose home language was not English and who represented a full range of English proficiency. In ALIAS, students read an informational text and then were guided to focus on a small number of judiciously selected target words. Students were taught to

make personal connections to the word meanings. Instruction in morphology was integrated into the lessons, such that students were guided to associate the words with derivational forms, such as the relation between "research" and "researcher."

Finally, both Vaughn and colleagues (2009) as well as a team led by August (August, Branum-Martin, Cardenas-Hagan, & Francis, 2009) tested vocabulary interventions based on principles of robust instruction that were embedded in disciplinary instruction and compared these to "typical" instruction using the standard curriculum. In Vaughn's intervention, emergent bilinguals, who were designated "limited English proficient" by the school district and were majority Spanish-English bilinguals, were taught a small set of high-utility general academic words and sets of content-specific terms relevant to the social studies content. August's intervention similarly focused on both general academic words and content-specific terms in the context of teaching science content. Sixty-three percent of participants were designated "English Language Learners" who were Spanish-English emergent bilinguals, while the rest were non-English Language Learners. Both interventions showed gains in word learning as measured by differences from pre- to posttest assessments of target word knowledge.

In summary, intervention studies with adolescent emergent bilinguals have demonstrated that instruction that provides multiple encounters with target words and analysis and use of the words is effective at promoting word knowledge (August et al., 2009; Carlo et al., 2004; Lesaux et al., 2010; Proctor et al., 2011; Snow et al., 2009; Vaughn et al., 2009). Thus, these studies suggest that principles of instruction shown to be effective for promoting vocabulary learning with native English speakers (Baumann et al., 2003; McKeown et al., 1985; NRP, 2000; Stahl & Fairbanks, 1986; Wright & Cervetti, 2017) are, overall, effective for emergent bilinguals (Goldenberg, 2011). These studies provide evidence that *both* emergent bilinguals and their

native English-speaking peers (whose word knowledge tends to be higher initially) can increase their vocabulary knowledge at comparable rates. In contrast, in the face of no intervention, disparities between these groups in both vocabulary knowledge and reading achievement tend to increase over time (Kieffer, 2008; Nakamoto, Lindsey, & Manis, 2007). Arguably, however, it is not sufficient for emergent bilinguals to increase vocabulary knowledge at comparable rates; in order to close the gap, interventions designed to accelerate vocabulary learning for emergent bilinguals are needed (Crosson, McKeown, Moore, & Ye, 2019; Galloway & Lesaux, 2015). Incorporating instruction in morphological analysis to promote learning a broader semantic network of words may be effective toward that end.

### **Morphology Instruction Promotes Word Learning and Comprehension**

In light of the massive "word learning burden" (McKeown, Deane, Scott, Krovetz, & Lawless, 2017) faced by school-age learners, it is widely understood that awareness of morphological relationships is an aspect of word knowledge that is essential for vocabulary acquisition. For example, Anglin's (1993) seminal exploration of morphological understanding among native English speakers revealed that the surge in word learning observed around third grade is driven by growth in awareness of derivational relations between words. The vocabulary demands of school texts parallel this shift. Nagy and Anderson (1984) estimated that 60-80% of new words that students encounter in text are morphologically complex. Yet students are not always sensitive to morphological relationships. Carlisle and Stone (2005) discovered that when derivations had a phonological (e.g., *clinic* and *clinician*) or orthographic shift (e.g., *space* and *spatial*), such variations often made it more difficult for students to detect morphological relationships.

Evidence suggests that morphological knowledge—in the absence of morphological instruction—predicts unique variance in vocabulary knowledge, and perhaps in reading comprehension (cf. Bowers, Kirby, & Deacon, 2010; Carlisle, 2010; Kieffer & Lesaux, 2008; Nagy, Berninger, & Abbott, 2006; Wagner, Muse, & Tannebaum, 2007). In a longitudinal investigation with native English speakers followed from third to fourth grade, Levesque, Kieffer, and Deacon (2018) found that morphological skills contributed to the development of reading comprehension over time. Critically, it was not simply awareness of morphological relations that predicted comprehension but, instead, the ability to apply knowledge of derivations to problem-solve word meanings.

The evidence base for morphology instruction for the general population of school-age learners is growing and demonstrates that providing explicit instruction in morphological relationships is effective for a range of literacy outcomes. For example, Bowers and colleagues (2010) conducted a meta-analysis of 22 studies of morphological instruction with students through eighth grade, comprising a total of 2,652 students across all studies in the meta-analysis. In comparision to control conditions, students in morphology instruction showed stronger intervention effects, with large average effect sizes (mean d = 0.65) for knowledge about morpheme constituents and moderate effect sizes (mean d = 0.35) for vocabulary outcomes. Average treatment effects for morphology interventions were smaller for reading comprehension outcomes (mean d = 0.28). Notably, the authors reported with caution that effects for students with learning difficulties were greater than for participants in samples not characterized as "less able." For example, treatment effects were larger for the students with learning difficulties on vocabulary and spelling (mean d = 0.58 less able; mean d = 0.40 comparison). This was also true for reading comprehension (mean d = 0.67 less able; mean d = 0.27 comparison). Of note

and related to Levesque and colleagues' findings, Bowers and colleagues found that instruction of morphology was most effective when it was integrated within language arts instruction and presented via a problem-solving stance, features not present in most of the studies reviewed.

For students with language and literacy disorders, the evidence base for morphology instruction is smaller but growing; it provides moderate, but promising, evidence for interventions targeting morphology in clinical settings. Goodwin and Ahn (2010) conducted a meta-analysis of 17 morphology interventions carried out with students with language and literacy disorders from preschool through 12th grade. Participants included students with speech and language delays, as well as English Language Learners, and children with learning and reading disabilities. A total of 79 effect sizes were extracted across literacy outcomes, including vocabulary, morphological awareness, and reading comprehension. As would be expected, differential intervention effects were found for different literacy outcomes. Medium effect sizes were found for morphological awareness and vocabulary (mean d = 0.40 for both outcomes). Notably, the largest morphology intervention effects on improving overall literacy outcomes were for children with speech and language delays (mean d = 0.77, SE = 0.07, p < .01), followed by emergent bilinguals (mean d = 0.62, SE = 0.18, p < .01).

Since Goodwin and Ahn's (2010) systematic review, some research addressing the effectiveness of morphology intervention for students with language and literacy disorders has further strengthened the research base in favor of this approach in clinical settings. Brimo's (2016) small-scale study employed a pre-post design with third graders in a school for students with learning disabilities. Brimo demonstrated that small group intervention (two to three students per group) focusing on morphological awareness of affixes was associated with pre-post differences and large effect sizes: d = 0.48-2.58 for several morphological processing tasks.

Wolter and Dilworth (2014) compared two interventions, one focusing on orthographic patterns versus one focusing on morphological patterns, with 27 second graders who had been referred to the researchers for language and literacy disorders by speech-language pathologists and teachers. The intervention focused on inflectional and derivational affixes and emphasized a problem-solving or "detective" approach. The two groups had similar outcomes on an orthography task, but the morphology group (d = 1.49) outperformed the orthography group (d = 0.19) in reading comprehension.

Across these studies, a growing research base has emerged showing that morphological awareness is susceptible to improvement through intervention and shows positive impacts on vocabulary knowledge, morphological awareness, and improvement in reading comprehension for children in the general population, for children who have language and literacy disorders, and for emergent bilingual students. The evidence for children with language and literacy disorders is at Levels IIa, IIb, and III per the American Speech-Language-Hearing Association's (ASHA) "level of evidence" classification system (American Speech-Language-Hearing Association, n.d.), as randomized controlled trials are not yet available. Most interestingly, Goodwin and Ahn noted a trend indicating that emergent bilingual students and students with speech and language delays showed the greatest intervention effects from morphology instruction. Drawing from these evidence bases, we expect that interventions that incorporate morphological analysis to improve vocabulary knowledge should be effective for emergent bilinguals who have language and literacy disorders. Morphology instruction incorporated into robust vocabulary instruction may offer a leverage point in clincal settings for emergent bilingual students.

**Expanding the Focus of Morphology Intervention to Explicitly Teach Latin Roots** 

It is important to note that morphology intervention research to date, with a few notable exceptions (Bowers & Kirby, 2010; Crosson & McKeown, 2016; Crosson et al., 2019; Crosson & Moore, 2017; Goodwin, 2016; McKeown, Crosson, Moore, & Beck, 2018; Pacheco & Goodwin, 2013), has largely been confined to a focus on inflectional affixes (i.e., the relationship between walk and walks) or a focus on derivational affixes (i.e., the relationship between research and researcher). Yet the key constituents of language that carry meaning are the lexical morphemes—that is, the roots. Morphological analysis of roots should be highly generative given that roots tend to carry meaning far more so than affixes do. Consider that the word credible contains the root cred, from Latin for "believe;" but if a learner does not know the meaning of *cred*, knowledge about the derivational affix attached to this word is not likely to be helpful. Even though connections to roots may not always be straightforward, there are reasons to focus on roots, rather than focusing solely on inflectional or derivational affixes. Words that students analyze in elementary grades are often of Germanic origin and thus comprise "bases" (also called "root words" or "stems") to which prefixes and suffixes can be cleanly and efficiently added and subtracted. However, academic words rarely contain such transparent bases, and the root is rarely a freestanding base word. Because the root is the major component of the word that carries its meaning, morphological analysis of words likely to appear in academic texts calls on knowledge of Latin roots.

A focus on Latin roots for morphological analysis is a novel approach that extends the possible impact of morphology inventions (Crosson & McKeown, 2016; Crosson et al., 2019). While the research base for this approach is still growing, recent studies lend empirical evidence to the hypothesis that instruction about Latin roots improves word learning. Bowers and Kirby (2010) investigated how effectively fourth and fifth grade English-speaking monolingual

students learn to use morphological analysis including roots to support target word learning and infer meanings of unfamiliar words. Controlling for initial vocabulary knowledge and in comparison to a control group, students who participated in the intervention were better able to identify novel words that included freestanding root words and bound roots (e.g., *rupt* in *disrupt*) taught during the intervention, concluding that teaching morphological analysis helps students learn vocabulary beyond the words taught. Similarly, Goodwin and colleagues (Goodwin, 2016; Pacheco & Goodwin, 2013) investigated a range of morphological problem-solving strategies in interventions with adolescents, including some analysis with bound Latin roots, and found that morphology instruction was effective at supporting morphological awareness, with larger effects for language minority students. Both Goodwin's and Bowers and Kirby's (2010) interventions point to potential benefits of teaching roots.

# Morphology Instruction: Five Design Principles for Morphology Instruction for Emergent Bilinguals

In this section, our focus is the five design principles that we used to create the EL RAVE intervention, illustrated with examples from instruction with emergent bilinguals. But, first, we provide an overview of the EL RAVE instruction itself.

#### **EL RAVE Intervention**

Our research program investigates the role of morphology intervention focused on Latin roots on the development of academic word knowledge and morphological problem-solving skill for emergent bilingual adolescents. The curriculum as a whole is a supplemental vocabulary program that comprises eight units, with each unit consisting of eight daily, 15-minute lessons during which students are supported to develop deep, flexible knowledge of general academic words, high-utility Latin roots, and extension words that carry the target Latin roots and are

semantically related to the general academic words. Target words were selected from lists of academic words, including the Academic Word List (AWL, Coxhead, 2000) and the Academic Vocabulary List (Gardner & Davies, 2013). These lists are compiled from large databases of academic texts and represent words that appear across academic domains. About 75% of these words contain Latin roots (Lubliner & Hiebert, 2011). Words were selected for EL RAVE through consensus across the research group about utility of the word, the ease of explaining the root in relation to word meaning, and whether the root appeared in other useful academic words.

Lesson 1 begins with introduction to four target academic (e.g., *indicate*, *ambiguous*, *induce*, *suspend*) words and their Latin roots (e.g., *dic*, meaning "tell or say"). Words are first introduced in sentence-level contexts (e.g., The blue dot on your GPS map *indicates* where you are located), and friendly definitions are provided (e.g., When you *indicate* something, you show it or point it out.). The teacher guides students to integrate target word meaning with context ("How does the meaning of *indicate* fit in this context?").

After introducing each target academic word and its root, a "Spanish Friend," or a high-frequency word in Spanish that carries the root, is introduced for each root (i.e., for the root, *dic*, meaning "tell or say," students are guided to consider the Spanish Friend *dice*, meaning "s/he says"). If participating students speak other Latinate languages, other Friends are introduced (e.g., in French, Portuguese, and Haitian Creole, *dis*, *diz*, and *di* mean "says" in each language respectively). The teacher then guides students to examine both semantic and orthographic connections between the target academic word, its root, and Spanish and Other Friends, and the class creates a public record of this thinking on a Words and Roots Chart. Closure to Lesson 1 is provided via fast-paced review of word meaning, root identification, and root meaning.

Lesson 2 begins with a fast-paced review of roots from Lesson 1. For example, the teacher might call out root meanings and students write the roots that correspond to those meanings on mini dry erase boards. The main goal of Lesson 2 is to deepen understanding of first two words from Lesson 1 (*indicate*, *ambiguous*). Each word is presented in two paragraphlevel contexts, and students are guided to integrate word meaning with context. Contexts (approximately 75 words each) represent concrete and abstract senses when possible (*ambiguous* shapes; *ambiguous* statements). Following introduction to each word, students engage in "activate vocabulary" interactions applying target words to discuss a personal context (e.g., "What symptoms might *indicate* that you are about to come down with a cold?"). Closure to the lessons is provided via final review of first two words linking "everyday" language to word meanings.

Lesson 3 begins with a fast-paced review of roots from Lesson 1 (e.g., one student acts out root meaning; others call out the root). The main goal of Lesson 3 is to deepen understanding of last two words (*induce*, *suspend*) from Lesson 1 by analyzing two paragraph-level contexts that use the target words. As in Lesson 2, students are guided to integrate word meaning with context. Students then engage in "activate vocabulary" interactions for each of these two words. Closure is provided via final review of second two words linking "everyday" language to target word meanings.

Lesson 4 begins with introduction to four target academic words and their Latin roots (e.g., *conform-form*, *deviate-via*, *consent-sent*, *circumstances-circum*) and is parallel to Lesson 1; Lessons 5 and 6 follow the same sequence set out in Lessons 2 and 3. That is, Lesson 5 is exactly the same as Lesson 2 but focuses on the fifth and sixth target words in the unit and their

roots (e.g., *conform*, *deviate*). Finally, Lesson 6 is exactly the same as Lesson 3 but focuses on the seventh and eighth target words in the unit and their roots (*consent*, *circumstances*).

Lesson 7 focuses on deeping knowledge of target words, improving fluency of access to Latin roots, and teaching students to use Latin roots for morphological analysis of unfamiliar words that carry the root (i.e., "root-related words"). The teacher begins by leading an active processing activity with target words and roots. For example, in "Picture This," students are guided to associate a target word and root with an image and to justify the association. The teacher then leads an activity to introduce a "root-related word" for each root. For example, in Word Drama, each root-related word is presented in short (approximately 25-word) scripts (e.g., Script: "Art Lesson;" Roles: Friend 1, Friend 2, Art Teacher; Art Teacher: Why are you drawing your dog like that? Student 1: Why? What's wrong with it? Student 2: It has two tails! Student 1: So? Student 2: It looks *deformed*!). Students act out the brief scripts, and after each teacher asks: (a) What do you think [root-related word (*deformed*)] means?; (b) What is the root (*form*="shape")?; (c) How does the root connect to the meaning? Closure is provided via a final review by adding root-related words to the publicly displayed Words and Roots Chart.

Lesson 8 begins with an active processing activity focused on deepening understanding of all eight target words. For example, in the activity, "Show Us," the teacher describes situations that incorporate the target words and students act out the situations (e.g., "A new food is *inducing* an allergic reaction"). Teacher then leads an activity to introduce a second "root-related word" for each root. For example, in "Overheard Conversations," each root-related word is presented in one to two sentence-level sentence bubbles (<20 words), such as, "Sorry we're late! We took a *circuitous* route to get here." Teacher guides students to: (a) identify the word that contains a root; (b) circle the root; and (c) use the meaning of the root to figure out the

meaning of the root-related word. Finally, closure to the entire unit is provided via an activity called "Rapid Fire Roots." Here, students independently complete a chart (similar to the publicly displayed chart), providing each root, root meaning, words, and root-related words taught in the unit, and doing so as quickly as possible. Examples of instructional practices are provided in Supplemental Figures 1-6 (the full curriculum is not yet publicly available).

# **EL Design Principles for Instruction with Emergent Bilinguals**

While the EL RAVE intervention was designed for inclusive settings in whole-group instruction, the design principles of effective morphology instruction for emergent bilinguals are adaptable to small-group intervention or one-on-one intervention by clinicians. Below, we present five design principles that we used to create the intervention, illustrated with examples from instruction with emergent bilinguals.

The design principles underlying EL RAVE are as follows:

- make cross-linguistic connections to other Latinate languages whenever possible to help students learn and remember root meaning;
- teach semantic networks among words that carry the root;
- explicitly teach orthographic and phonological shifts;
- teach for fluency of access to root meanings; and
- emphasize a flexible, problem-solving orientation toward using Latin roots for learning academic word meanings.

Make cross-linguistic connections to other Latinate languages whenever possible to help students learn and remember root meaning. Teaching cognate awareness has long been recognized as a productive means to support vocabulary growth (e.g., Dressler, Carlo, Snow, August, & White, 2011; Nagy, García, Durgunoglu, & Hancin-Bhatt, 1993). However, teaching

especially for academic words in English—may be a way to bolster vocabulary learning. A study by Lubliner and Hiebert (2011) underscores the advantage of teaching cross-linguistic connections in addition to cognates. They found that 75% of English academic words in the AWL corpus shared cognates with Spanish, but for 62% of these pairs, the Spanish words were not high frequency and thus not likely to be accessible enough to support learning the English word. Clearly, the existence of a Spanish-English cognate relationship is only useful for learning the word in English if emergent bilingual students know the first language (L1) cognate. Simply holding cognate status is not sufficient. While many cognates are direct, with Latinate and English words nearly identical in meaning and alike orthographically, the relationship between English and Latinate languages is much more extensive. By definition, words have a cognate relationship because they share a root. Typically, this root is shared in not just the cognate pair, but also in other high-frequency words in Spanish, and in other academic words in English.

For example, the academic word *innovative* has a Spanish cognate *inovador*, but because this is not a high-frequency Spanish word, learning that *innovative* has a cognate in Spanish may not support access to the meaning of the target word. Yet the Latin root shared by the cognate pair, *nov*, appears in very high-frequency Spanish words such as *nuevo* and *nueva*, and in several other academic words in English, such as *novice*, *novelty*, and *renovate*. This root also appears in high-frequency words in languages such as Haitian Creole (*nouvo*), Croatian (*novi*), Portuguese (*novo*), and Romanian (*nou*). Accessing the related meaning in English and students' home languages (L1) via the Latin root holds potential for learning several academic words in English that do not have direct cognates in students' home languages. Taking advantage of these common roots greatly increases the portion of the wordstock accessible for cross-linguistic

connections. Moreover, it may strengthen and extend networks within and across languages, which is a sensible approach given the interrelated nature of the bilingual's language systems (Kroll & Bialystok, 2013; Kroll, Dussias, Bogulski, & Valdes-Kroff, 2012).

In the EL RAVE intervention, students are shown connections between Latin roots and words across multiple languages. For example, *conform* has the Latin root *forma*, meaning "shape." This same root appears in words for "shape" in Spanish (*forma*), Portuguese (*forma*), and Haitian Creole (*fòme*), morphologically linking all of these words to the English word *conform*. Importantly, the study of roots holds potential to support students who have not had the opportunity to develop academic language in their L1 (Crosson, Matsumura, Correnti, & Arlotta-Guerrero, 2012), which, in light of restrictive policies in U.S. schools (National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine [NAS], 2017), is common. The EL RAVE intervention promotes cross-linguistic transfer to a range of high-frequency words in L1 rather than using cognates, which rely on well-developed L1 proficiency.

To teach such cross-linguistic connections explicitly, the intervention begins with an introductory unit called *Think Like a Linguist*. In this unit, students learn about language change over time, analyze clusters of related languages to consider connections among languages, and study a Language Family Tree to make sense of the historical roots of clusters of linguistically related languages. During subsequent units, students are guided to refer to the Language Family Tree to see how Latinate languages comprise words that carry the same roots as academic words in English. Supplemental Figure 1 illustrates how students are explicitly guided to make connections between the Latin roots from target academic words and high-frequency words in their L1.

This approach seems to be appealing and engaging for emergent bilinguals, even those from non-Latinate language backgrounds, because of its explicit recognition of the multiplicity of languages and the resemblances among languages. The stance of our approach is that of exposing the workings of language, English in particular, as a kind of giant jigsaw puzzle cobbled together over centuries by its users.

Teach semantic networks among words that carry the root. Learners who can analyze the meaning constituents of words are more likely to recognize that words of the same families are related in meaning, and may even successfully infer meanings of unknown words whose parts are familiar (McCutchen & Logan, 2011; Taft, 2003). Moreover, knowing the meanings of a word's morphological constituents may lead to a more stable and precise representation of the word in memory (Bowers et al., 2010), that is, greater depth of word knowledge. Improved lexical quality may enable more successful comprehension of contexts in which the word occurs (Perfetti & Hart, 2002; Perfetti & Stafura, 2014). Indeed, learning roots seems to enrich students' semantic networks by building connections that are analyzable through the words' lexical morphology. These connections can strengthen knowledge of the words taught and give access to other academic words that share the root (Snow & Kim, 2007).

In the EL RAVE intervention, connections between Latin roots and semantic clusters of words that carry the root are analyzed throughout instruction. Links are made between these words, as well as to high-frequency words in Latinate languages, which for many emergent bilinguals correspond to their L1. Returning to the example of *conform*, which carries the Latin root *forma*, meaning "shape," this word is morphologically linked to many words that carry the root, such as *format*, *uniform*, and *formative*. This element of the intervention is aligned with the Common Core State Standards (Council of Chief State School Officers, 2010) for vocabulary

acquisition and use, which calls for students to use Greek and Latin roots to infer word meanings in Grades 6, 7, and 8.

To teach semantic networks of words that carry high-utility Latin roots, students are guided to notice relations through roots, and they are given multiple opportunities to do this. Words that carry the target root are referred to as "root-related words." For example, in one activity, *Make the Connection*, students are provided a context that contains a root-related word, and are asked to identify the root and then explain how the root's meaning makes sense with the meaning of the root-related word. Supplemental Figures 2 and 3 illustrate how semantic webs are built in instruction. Students are guided to track these connections on Word Charts in their student books, which also serves as a record of the root, root meaning, and connections to high-frequency words in students' Latinate home languages, as well as serving as a record of networks of semantically linked root-related words.

Explicitly teach orthographic and phonological shifts. As previously mentioned, when morphologically related derivations contain an orthographic or phonological shift from the base word, these shifts make detection of the relationship more difficult for some learners. Similarly, in the case of Latin roots, discerning the meaning of words that carry target bound roots might be tricky because of the orthographic and phonological variation involved. For example, the words *reside*, *sedentary*, and *residue* all share the Latin root *sid/sed*, meaning "to sit or settle," and their meanings all have a clear connection to the root. But the root *sid/sed* is not orthographically or phonologically stable across words, so the connection may be difficult for students to make on their own.

In the EL RAVE intervention, orthographic variation is taught explicitly, such that when a bound root is introduced any variations are introduced from the outset. For example, the root

of the target word *consent* is *sent*, meaning "feel," and when introduced students are told that the root can be either "s-e-n-s" or "s-e-n-t."

Teach for fluency of access to root meanings. Psycholinguistic research has demonstrated that bilinguals show faster and more accurate reading of cognates suggesting that bilinguals activate both languages to their advantage (Kroll et al., 2012). Similarly, it is possible that accessing roots that correspond to known, high-frequency words in Spanish should render the words more efficiently accessible. Moreover, instruction is purposefully designed to build fluency of access to written representations of target words and their roots. Such practice is built in throughout the intervention lessons. For example, in brief review activities, students are asked to write the roots on personal dry erase boards to strengthen orthographic representations and link these to root meanings. In another example, as illustrated in Supplemental Figure 4, students are given the target word meanings, and are asked to write as quickly as possible the target word, the root, and the root's meaning.

The goal of the series of fluency-building activities in EL RAVE is to emphasize roots to strengthen connections between orthographic and semantic representations, as one path to incrementally build lexical representations of target academic words (Bowers et al., 2010).

Emphasize a flexible, problem-solving orientation toward using Latin roots for learning academic word meanings. Finally, and most important, EL RAVE is deliberately designed to teach a problem-solving stance toward morphologically complex words. As such, emergent bilingual students receive instruction in learning the meanings of bound Latin roots and how to apply this information for problem-solving new words. The goals of instruction are to teach not only that bound roots are meaning-carrying constituents found within words, but also to teach cognitive flexibility in applying root meanings. Such flexibility is important, as

relations between root and word meanings have evolved over time; thus, the relation is not always readily apparent.

Examples of how students are guided to develop a curious, detective-like stance toward using bound roots for morphological problem-solving are illustrated in Supplemental Figures 4 and 5. Critical to note is that students are to consider how the meaning of the root fits with the root-related word. As bound roots can be polysemous, discerning the meaningful relation between bound root and word meaning sometimes requires considerable inference or even a metaphoric leap. Our position is that such challenge contributes to building the cognitive flexibility essential for morphological problem-solving (Crosson & McKeown, 2016)—the kind of cognitive work with morphemes that is associated with improved comprehension outcomes (Levesque et al., 2018).

# **EL RAVE: Evidence of Effectiveness from Implementation Trials**

Below, we present a synthesis of three studies in which we investigated this approach with emergent bilingual learners. Cumulatively, they offer preliminary evidence for the promise of this instruction for supporting vocabulary learning among emergent bilingual adolscents. All trials have been carried out in whole-group settings in the context of English as a Second Language instruction. The adaptability of this approach for clinicians, including speech-language pathologists, is addressed in the following section.

### Study 1

A four-unit (8-week) version of EL RAVE was implemented by two teachers in an urban, northeastern school district, in one  $7_{th}$ -grade and one  $9_{th}$ -grade class (n = 21 students). Students had immigrated from 10 different countries: Nepal (n = 10), El Salvador, Honduras, Ghana, Kenya, Uganda, Tanzania, Vietnam, Somalia, and Uzbekistan. Ten students reported that they

immigrated at the age of 11 years or older to the US. Eighty-six percent of students reported that they attended school in another country before immigrating to the US. When students were asked to identify their primary language (L1), the most frequent response was Nepali, followed by Spanish. Other languages were Swahili, Yoruba, Kinyarwanda, Luganda, Lingala, Kirundi, Vietnamese, Somali, Uzbek, and Russian. Three quarters of students reported speaking "only" or "mostly" their L1 at home, and 50% reported they can read in their L1.

As the primary goal was to collect feasibility and usability data for iteratieve development of the intervention, a pretest-posttest design was implemented with no comparison group. We administered five researcher-designed measures, all of which suggested positive impact of the intervention on academic word learning (with effect sizes d = 0.78-2.25). The tasks were (a) Roots Knowledge (i.e., knowledge of target root meanings in which students match roots to synonyms), (b) Word Knowledge (i.e., knowledge of target word meanings in which students match words to synonyms), (c) Evaluation of Academic Vocabulary (i.e., depth of knowledge of target words that assessed students' understanding of syntactic features, semantic features, and constraints of word use; Crosson, McKeown, & Ward, 2019), (d) Morphological Analysis Task (i.e., ability to infer meaning of noninstructed low-frequency words with target roots), and (e) "Slasher" Task (an orthographic processing task adapted from Lesaux et al., 2010). For Slasher, two forms were administered: a "target word version" for which improvement in fluency was expected, and a "filler version" (comprising noninstructed words matched to target words for length, part of speech, orthographic neighborhood, and bigram frequency) for which improvement pre to post was not expected. Significant differences were found only for the target word form, confirming our predictions. Descriptive statistics, results from two-tailed t tests, and effect sizes computed with Cohen's d are presented in Table 1.

# Study 2

A four-unit (8-week) version of EL RAVE (same unit as Study 1 trial) was implemented by four teachers in an urban, southeastern school district with a population of emergent bilinguals that was demographically distinct from the population in Study 1. Four middle school teachers participated in the trial with 73 emergent bilingual participants. In this study, the majority of participants (68%) spoke Spanish as a home language. Other languages included Tongan, Navajo, Yiddish, Mayan, and Somalian. Also distinct from the Study 1, 95.7% of the students were U.S. born. This demographic profile is consistent with trends showing that the majority of school-age emergent bilinguals are not immigrants but instead are born in the United States (Hernandez, Denton, & Macartney, 2008). Approximately half reported that they spoke both English and Spanish at home, and 70% reported they could read in their home language.

Similar to Study 1, the primary goal was to collect feasibility and usability data for iterative development of the intervention; thus, a pretest-posttest design was implemented with no comparison group. We administered the same researcher-designed measures as utilized in Study 1 and found significant improvement from pre to post on every measure, with effect sizes of d = 0.56-1.5 (see Table 2).

# Study 3

A within-subject study with 87 emergent bilinguals of diverse language backgrounds in five classrooms across two schools, Grades 6-12, was carried out in the culturally and linguistically diverse northeastern district that participated in the intervention in Study 1. Eighteen home languages were represented, including Nepali, Yoruba, Urdu, Kiswahili, Russian, Maay Maay, Spanish, French, Burmese, and Arabic.

The primary goal of Study 3 was to compare the effects of EL RAVE to the effects of a highly effective vocabulary intervention that did not incorporate instruction in morphological analysis using Latin roots. EL RAVE reflected the five design princples described above, including opportunities for morphological analysis, problem-solving, and cross-linguistic connections. The counterfactual condition offered robust vocabulary intervention (RAVE; for details, see Margaret McKeown's contribution to this issue) and comprised instruction on the same target words, with some overlapping instructional components, but no morphological instruction and no cross-linguistic connections. Thus, the implementation trial was designed to compare EL RAVE, a rigorous, high-quality condition of robust instruction, which has demonstrated effectiveness with emergent bilinguals. Study 3 was designed to investigate to what degree the intervention infused with instruction in bound Latin roots (i.e., EL RAVE) would provide added value for emergent bilingual adolescents' knowledge of target academic words, morphological analysis skills, and lexical access of academic words. It was expected that the intervention infused with morphology instruction would produce stronger outcomes for learning academic words by strengthening their semantic and orthographic representations, which are essential components of the lexical quality of a word's representation in memory and critical to skilled comprehension (Perfetti & Hart, 2002; Perfetti & Stafura, 2014).

Results suggested that there are added benefits to EL RAVE and that infusing morphology instruction in Latin roots produces no adverse effects. EL RAVE was found to be equally effective (i.e., no significant differences between conditions) when compared to robust vocabulary instruction for teaching meanings of target academic words, with effect sizes for EL RAVE of d = 0.8-1.55. For orthographic processing, EL RAVE showed a small, significant advantage (p = .04, d = 0.39). Finally, the intervention infused with morphology instruction

showed significantly higher results (p < .0001) on a task of morphological problem-solving, with a large treatment effect (d = 1.33-1.48). In summary, evidence suggests that the intervention focusing on morphological analysis of roots led to robust semantic representations of target academic words, enhanced morphological analysis skills to fuel vocabulary growth, and supported orthographic processing for emergent bilingual adolescents across a range of home languages, both Latinate and non-Latinate. Results from this study are fully presented in Crosson and Moore (2017) and McKeown et al. (2018).

## **Summary of Findings Across the Three Trials**

Across the three trials of EL RAVE, we found that (a) feasibility tests (with pre-post comparisons) have shown the approach to be effective for two populations of emergent bilinguals in distinct contexts (i.e., U.S. born emergent bilinguals who are majority Spanishspeakers versus recent immigrant populations emergent bilinguals who are culturally and linguistically diverse) as evidenced by similar treatment effects for most measures, suggesting that the intervention was equally effective in both contexts, and (b) an intervention trial contrasting EL RAVE with robust vocabulary instruction demonstrated that EL RAVE is equally effective at supporting word learning and shows some advantages for bilingual learners with respect to morphological problem-solving and lexical processing accuracy. Thus, the three trials provide preliminary and promising evidence that this novel approach is effective with emergent bilingual learners. It is important to note that EL RAVE's instructional approach is intended for emergent bilinguals at the intermediate and advanced levels of English language proficiency. While evidence suggests that it is effective for a wide range of emergent bilinguals, connections from high-frequency words in students' home languages to Latin roots is helpful to students who speak a home language that is Latinate.

# Strategies for Adapting the Design Principles of EL RAVE in Clinical Settings

While the EL RAVE intervention has, to date, been implemented in whole-group instruction in ESL settings, the instructional principles, nature of interactions, and content hold promise for use in clinical settings with emergent bilinguals with communications disorders. Returning to the research on morphological interventions with students who have language and literacy disorders, evidence points toward effectiveness of clinical practice that incorporates morphological training, especially when it is integrated with other meaning-focused aspects of literacy and when children are supported to take a problem-solving or "detective-like" approach, both of which are intentionally designed into the EL RAVE curriculum. Intervention components can be implemented in small groups or in individual clinical sessions with modification.

For clinicians working in Tiers 2 and 3 intervention settings and, in particular, speech-language pathologists, some modifications may be important. First, it may be important to provide additional time for oral application. For example, speech-language pathologists might slow down the pace of lessons to allow multiple opportunities for students to use the target vocabulary words orally. This may be done in parallel with the classroom teacher, allowing the teacher to proceed at a Tier 1 pace. Second, it may be important to incorporate opportunities for review and practice. Supplemental Figure 6 illustrates an activity from EL RAVE that is provided for review. Activites such as this review activity can be frequently interwoven into instruction over time and may benefit emergent bilingual learners with language and literacy disorders. Note that students could generate a variety of responses to such a review activity, thus tasks such as these could be implemented in both a whole-class setting and later with a clinician for individual practice. Third, we recommend that speech-language pathologists and other

specialists collaborate with classroom teachers who are implementing the instructional approaches of EL RAVE by providing additional opportunities for emergent bilinguals with language and literacy disorders to pronounce the target words, discuss syllable stress and part of speech, and focus on selected words for development of specific articulation skills. Future research is needed to test these modifications, to develop further adaptations, and to determine which students with communication disorders benefit most from this program.

#### **Conclusions**

In summary, we advocate that clinical practice with emergent bilingual learners at intermediate and advanced stages of proficiency incorporate robust vocabulary instruction for emergent bilinguals from a variety of cultural and linguistic backgrounds. In light of both the evidence base reviewed and our findings from implementation trials of EL RAVE, we recommend that clinicians focus on high-utility academic words and they teach morphological problem-solving skills for generative word learning. Furthermore, clinicians may leverage emergent bilingual learners' home language resources for developing morphological problem-solving skill. However, even for learners whose home languages are not Latinate, there can be benefits for introducing morphological connections. We concur with Wolter and Collins (2017) that morphological analysis "may be an especially important skill to improve reading success for students at risk for or diagnosed with specific learning disabilities such as dyslexia and oral and written language learning disability as this skill promotes written word decoding and identification as well as related vocabulary abilities."

Our work suggests that explicit instruction about bound Latin roots can be beneficial for developing the kinds of robust word representations essential to comprehension. For emergent bilingual adolescents, the vocabulary learning challenge is largely driven by sparser

representations of general academic words. For these learners, morphology instruction such as that offered in EL RAVE emphasizes not only cross-linguistic connections to home languages but also development of semantic networks of morphologically related words and the cognitive flexibility that can facilitate vocabulary growth. Indeed, equipping students with the knowledge and metalinguistic skills to improve academic vocabulary knowledge could be beneficial for many adolescent learners in U.S. schools, and this may be especially true for students who are designated emergent bilinguals (NAS, 2017).

Acknowledgements:

We are grateful to Drs. Mariana Achugar, Matt Fields, Michael Kieffer, and William Nagy for guidance regarding research design and intervention development. We are thankful to Amaya Madden for assistance in the preparation of this manuscript and to Dr. Weiyi Cheng for assistance with data intake and analysis. Many thanks to Mr. Jonathan Covel, Ms. Debra Friss, Mr. Mark McMahon, Ms. Christine Tapu and the administrators, teachers, and students whose collaboration made this research possible and who taught us so much in the process.

#### References

- American Speech-Language-Hearing Association. (n.d.). Steps in the process of evidence-based practice. <<https://www.asha.org/Research/EBP/Assess-the-Evidence>>
- Anglin, J. M. (1993). Vocabulary development: A morphological analysis. *Monographs of the Society of Research in Child Development*, 58(10), 1-186. doi:10.2307/1166112
- August, D., Branum-Martin, L., Cardenas-Hagan, E., & Francis, D. J. (2009). The impact of an instructional intervention on the science and language learning of middle grade English language learners. *Journal of Research on Educational Effectiveness*, (Special Issue: *Effective Practices for English Language Learners in the Middle Grades*), 2(4), 345-376. doi:10.1080/19345740903217623
- August, D., & Shanahan, T. (2006). Developing literacy in second-language learners: Report of the National Literacy Panel on language-minority children and youth. Mahwah, NJ:

  Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Baumann, J. F., Kame'enui, E. J., & Ash, G. E. (2003). Research on vocabulary instruction:

  Voltaire redux. In J. Flood, D. Lapp, J. R. Squire, & J. M. Jensen (Eds.), *Handbook of research on teaching the English language arts* (pp. 752-785). Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum & Associates.
- Beck, I. L., McKeown, M., & Kucan, L. (2002). *Bringing words to life: Robust vocabulary instruction*. New York, NY: Guilford Press.
- Bowers, P. N., & Kirby, J. R. (2010). Effects of morphological instruction on vocabulary acquisition. *Reading and Writing: An Interdisciplinary Journal*, 23, 515-537. doi:10.1007/s11145-009-9172-z

- Bowers, P. N., Kirby, J. R., & Deacon, S. H. (2010). The effects of morphological instruction on literacy skills: A systematic review of the literature. *Review of Educational Research*, 80(2), 144-179. doi:10.3102/0034654309359353
- Brimo, D. (2016). Evaluating the effectiveness of a morphological awareness intervention: A pilot study. *Communication Disorders Quarterly*, *38*(1), 35-45. doi:10.1177/1525740115604592
- Carlisle, J. F. (2010). Effects of instruction in morphological awareness on literacy achievement: An integrative review. *Reading Research Quarterly*, 45(4), 464-487. doi:10.1598/RRQ.45.4.5
- Carlisle, J. F., & Stone, C. A. (2005). Exploring the role of morphemes in word reading.

  Reading Research Quarterly, 40(4), 428-449. doi:10.1598/RRQ.40.4.3
- Carlo, M. S., August, D., McLaughlin, B., Snow, C. E., Dressler, C., Lippman, D. N., ... White,
  C. E. (2004). Closing the gap: Addressing the vocabulary needs of English-language
  learners in bilingual and mainstream classrooms. *Reading Research Quarterly*, 39, 188-215. doi:10.1598/RRQ.39.2.3
- Council of Chief State School Officers. (2010). Common core state standards for English

  Language Arts & literacy in History/Social Studies, Science, and technical subjects.

  <<http://www.corestandards.org/assets/CCSSI\_ELA%20Standards.pdf>>
- Coxhead, A. (2000). A new academic word list. *TESOL Quarterly*, *34*(2), 213-238. doi:10.2307/3587951
- Crosson, A. C., Matsumura, L. C., Correnti, R., & Arlotta-Guerrero, A. (2012). The quality of writing tasks and students' use of academic language in Spanish. *The Elementary School Journal*, 112(3) [Special issue on academic language], 469-496. doi:10.1086/663298

- Crosson, A. C., & McKeown, M. G. (2016). Middle school learners' use of Latin roots to infer the meaning of unfamiliar words. *Cognition and Instruction*, *34*(2), 148-171. doi:10.1080/07370008.2016.1145121
- Crosson, A. C., McKeown, M. G., Moore, D. W., & Ye, F. (2019). Extending the bounds of morphology instruction: Teaching Latin roots facilitates academic word learning for English Learner adolescents. *Reading and Writing: An Interdisciplinary Journal*, 32(3), 689-727. doi:10.1007/s11145-018-9885-y
- Crosson, A. C., McKeown, M. G., & Ward, A. K. (2019). An innovative approach to assessing depth of knowledge of academic words. *Language Assessment Quarterly*, 16(2), 196-216. doi:10.1080/15434303.2019.1612899
- Crosson, A. C., & Moore, D. W. (2017). When to take up roots: The effects of morphology instruction for middle school and high school English Learners. *Reading Psychology*, 38(3), 262-288. doi:10.1080/02702711.2016.1263699
- Dressler, C., Carlo, M. S., Snow, C. E., August, D., & White, C. E. (2011). Spanish-speaking students' use of cognate knowledge to infer the meaning of English words. *Bilingualism: Language and Cognition*, 14(2), 243-255. doi:10.1017/S1366728910000519
- Galloway, E. P., & Lesaux, N. (2015). Reading comprehension skill development and instruction for adolescent English language learners: A focus on academic vocabulary instruction. In K. L. Santi & D. K. Reed (Eds.), *Improving reading comprehension of middle and high school students* (Vol. 10 of Literacy Studies, pp. 153-178). Cham, Switzerland: Springer International Publishing. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-14735-2\_7
- Gardner, D., & Davies, M. (2013). A new academic vocabulary list. *Applied Linguistics*, *35*(3), 305-327. doi:10.1093/applin/amt015

- Geva, E., Xi, Y., Massey-Garrison, A., & Mak, J. (in press). Assessing reading in second language learners: Development, validity and educational considerations. To appear in D. A. Kilpatrick, R. M. Joshi, & R. K. Wagner (Eds.), *Reading Difficulties at School*.
  Springer.
- Goldenberg, C. (2011). Reading instruction for English language learners. In M. L. Kamil, P.
  D. Pearson, E. B. Moje, & P. P. Afflerbach (Eds.), *Handbook of Reading Research* (Vol. IV, pp. 684-710). New York, NY: Taylor & Francis.
- Goodwin, A. P. (2016). Effectiveness of word solving: Integrating morphological problem-solving within comprehension instruction for middle school students. *Reading and Writing*, 29(1), 91-116. doi:10.1007/s11145-015-9581-0
- Goodwin, A. P., & Ahn, S. (2010). A meta-analysis of morphological interventions: Effects on literacy achievement of children with literacy difficulties. *Annals of Dyslexia*, 60, 183-208. doi:10.1007/s11881-010-0041-x
- Goodwin, A. P., & Ahn, S. (2013). A meta-analysis of morphological interventions in English:

  Effects on literacy outcomes for school-age children. *Scientific Studies of Reading*,

  17(4), 257-285. doi:10.1080/10888438.2012.689791
- Han, W. (2012). Bilingualism and academic achievement. *Child Development*, 83(1), 300-321. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-8624.2011.01686.x
- Hernandez, D. J., Denton, N. A., & Macartney, S. E. (2008). Children in immigrant families: Looking to America's future. *Social Policy Report*, 22(3), 3-22. doi:10.1002/j.2379-3988.2008.tb00056.x
- Kanno, Y., & Cromley, J. G. (2015). English language learners' pathways to four-year colleges.

  \*Teachers College Record, 117, 1-46.

- Kieffer, M. J. (2008). Catching poverty, up or falling behind? Initial English proficiency, concentrated and the reading growth of language minority learners in the United States. *Journal of Educational Psychology, 100*(4), 851-868. doi:10.1037/0022-0663.100.4.851
- Kieffer, M. J. (2010). Socioeconomic status, English proficiency, and late-emerging reading difficulties. *Educational Researcher*, *39*, 484-486. doi:10.3102/0013189X10378400
- Kieffer, M. J., & Lesaux, N. K. (2008). The role of derivational morphology in the reading comprehension of Spanish-speaking English language learners. *Reading and Writing*, 21, 783-804. doi:10.1007/s111455-007-9092-8
- Kieffer, M. J., & Lesaux, N. K. (2012). Effects of academic language on relational and syntactic aspects of morphological awareness for sixth graders from linguistically diverse backgrounds. *Elementary School Journal*, 112, 519-545. doi:10.1086/663299
- Kieffer, M. J., & Thompson, K. D. (2018). Hidden progress of multilingual students on NAEP. *Educational Researcher*, 47(6), 391-398. doi:10.3102/0013189X18777740
- Kroll, J. F., & Bialystok, E. (2013). Understanding the consequences of bilingualism for language processing and cognition. *Journal of cognitive psychology*, 25(5), 497-514. doi:10.1080/20445911.2013.799170
- Kroll, J. F., & Dussias, P. E. (2016). Language and productivity for all Americans. *American Academy of Arts and Sciences*. Commission on Language Learning.

  <https://www.amacad.org/multimedia/pdfs/KrollDussias\_April%205.pdf>>
- Kroll, J. F., Dussias, P. E., Bogulski, C. A., & Valdes-Kroff, J. R. (2012). Juggling two languages in one mind: What bilinguals tell us about language processing and its consequences for cognition. *Psychology of Learning and Motivation*, 56, 229-262. doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-394393-4.00007-8

- Lawrence, J. F., Capotosto, L., Branum-Martin, L., White, C., & Snow, C. E. (2012). Language proficiency, home-language status, and English vocabulary development: A longitudinal follow-up of the Word Generation program. *Bilingualism: Language and Cognition*, 15(3), 437-451. doi:10.1017/S1366728911000393
- Lesaux, N. K. (2006). Building consensus: Future directions for research on English Language

  Learners at-risk for learning difficulties. *Teachers College Record*, *108*(11), 2406-2434.

  doi:10.1111/j.1467-9620.2006.00787.x
- Lesaux, N. K., Crosson, A. C., Kieffer, M. J., & Pierce, M. (2010). Uneven profiles: Language minority learners' word reading, vocabulary, and reading comprehension skills. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 31(6), 475-483. doi:10.1016/appdev.2010.09.004
- Lesaux, N. K., Kieffer, M. J., Faller, E., & Kelley, J. (2010). The effectiveness and ease of implementation of an academic vocabulary intervention for linguistically diverse students in urban middle schools. *Reading Research Quarterly*, 45, 198-230. doi:10.1598/RRQ.45.2.3
- Lesaux, N. K., & Siegel, L. S. (2003). The development of reading in children who speak English as a second language (ESL). *Developmental Psychology*, *39*(6), 1005-1019. doi:10.1037/0012-1649.39.6.1005
- Levesque, K. C., Kieffer, M. J., & Deacon, S. H. (2018). Inferring meaning from meaningful parts: The contributions of morphological skills to the development of children's reading comprehension. *Reading Research Quarterly*, *54*(1), 63-80. doi:10.1002/rrq.219
- Lubliner, S., & Hiebert, E. (2011). An analysis of English-Spanish cognates as a source of general academic language. *Bilingual Research Journal*, *34*(1), 76-93. doi:10.1080/15235882.2011.568589

- Mancilla-Martinez, J., & Lesaux, N. K. (2010). Predictors of reading comprehension for struggling readers: The case of Spanish-speaking language minority learners. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 102(3), 701-711. doi:10.1037/a0019135
- McCutchen, D., & Logan, B. (2011). Incidental word learning: Children's strategic use of morphological information to infer word meanings. *Reading Research Quarterly*, 46, 334-349. doi:10.1002/RRQ.003
- McKeown, M. G., Beck, I. L., Omanson, R. C., & Pople, M. T. (1985). Some effects of the nature and frequency of vocabulary instruction on the knowledge and use of words.

  \*Reading Research Quarterly, 20(5), 522-535. doi:10.2307/747940
- McKeown, M. G., Deane, P. D., Scott, J. A., Krovetz, R., & Lawless, R. R. (2017). *Vocabulary assessment to support instruction: Building rich word-learning experiences*. Guilford Press: New York, NY.
- McKeown, M. G., Crosson, A. C., Moore, D. W., & Beck, I. L. (2018). Word knowledge and comprehension effects of an academic vocabulary intervention for middle school students. *American Educational Research Journal*, *55*(3), 572-616. doi:10.3102/0002831217744181
- Nagy, W. E., & Anderson, R. C. (1984). How many words are there in printed school English?

  \*Reading Research Quarterly, 19, 304-330. doi:10.2307/747823
- Nagy, W. E., Berninger, V. W., & Abbott, R. D. (2006). Contributions of morphology beyond phonology to literacy outcomes of upper elementary and middle-school students. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 98(1), 134-147. doi:10.1037/0022-0663.98.1.134

- Nagy, W. E., García, G. E., Durgunoğlu, A., & Hancin-Bhatt, B. (1993). Spanish-English bilingual students' use of cognates in English reading. *Journal of Reading Behavior* 25(3), 241-259. doi:10.1080/10862969009547816
- Nakamoto, J., Lindsey, K. A., & Manis, F. R. (2007). A longitudinal analysis of English language learners' word decoding and reading comprehension. *Reading and Writing: An Interdisciplinary Journal*, 20(7), 691-719. doi:10.1007/s11145-006-9045-7
- Nakamoto, J., Lindsey, K. A., & Manis, F. R. (2008). A cross-linguistic investigation of English Language Learners' reading comprehension in English and Spanish. *Scientific Studies of Reading*, 12, 351-371. doi:10.1080/10888430802378526
- National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. (2017). *Promoting the*educational success of children and youth learning English: Promising futures. R.

  Takanishi & S. Le Menestrel (Eds.). Washington, DC: The National Academies Press.

  doi:10.17226/24677
- National Reading Panel [NRP]. (2000). Teaching children to read: An evidence-based assessment of the scientific literature on reading and its implications for reading instruction. Washington, DC: National Institutes of Health. (NIH Pub. No. 00-4754).
- Pacheco, M. B., & Goodwin, A. P. (2013). Putting two and two together: Middle school students' morphological problem-solving strategies for unknown words. *Journal of Adolescent & Adult Literacy*, 56(7), 541-553. doi:10.1002/JAAL.181
- Perfetti, C. A., & Hart, L. (2002). The lexical quality hypothesis. In L. Verhoeven, C. Elbro, & P. Reitsma (Eds.), *Precursors of functional literacy* (Vol. 11 of the series Studies in Written Language and Literacy). Philadelphia, PA: John Benjamins.

- Perfetti, C., & Stafura, J. (2014). Word knowledge in a theory of reading comprehension. Scientific Studies of Reading, 18, 22-37. doi:10.1080/10888438.2013.827687
- Proctor, C. P., Carlo, M. S., August, D., & Snow, C. E. (2005). Native Spanish-speaking children reading in English: Toward a model of comprehension. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 97(2), 246-256. doi:10.1037/0022-0663.97.2.246
- Proctor, C. P., Dalton, B., Uccelli, P., Biancarosa, G., Mo, E., Snow, C., & Neugebauer, S. (2011). Improving comprehension online: Effects of deep vocabulary instruction with bilingual and monolingual fifth graders. *Reading and Writing*, *24*, 517-544. doi:10.1007/s11145-009-9218-2
- Reed, D. K., Petscher, Y., & Foorman, B. R. (2016). The contribution of vocabulary knowledge and spelling to the reading comprehension of adolescents who are and are not English language learners. *Reading and Writing*, 29(4), 633-657. doi:10.1007/s11145-015-9619-3
- Rumberger, R. W. (2011). *Dropping out: Why students drop out of high school and what can be done about it.* Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Snow, C. E., Burns, M. S., & Griffin, P. (Eds.). (1998). *Preventing reading difficulties in young children*. Washington, DC: National Academy Press.
- Snow, C. E., & Kim, Y. (2007). Large problem spaces: The challenge of vocabulary for English language learners. In R. K. Wagner, A. E. Muse, & K. R. Tannenbaum (Eds.), *Vocabulary acquisition: Implications for reading comprehension* (pp. 123-139). New York, NY: Guilford Press.

- Snow, C. E., Lawrence, J. F., & White, C. (2009). Generating knowledge of academic language among urban middle school students. *Journal of Research on Educational Effectiveness*, 2(4), 325-344. doi:10.1080/19345740903167042
- Stahl, S. A., & Fairbanks, M. M. (1986). The effects of vocabulary instruction: A model-based meta-analysis. *Review of Educational Research*, 56, 72-110. doi:10.3102/00346543056001072
- Taft, M. (2003). Morphological representation as a correlation between form and meaning. InE. Assink & D. Sandra (Eds.), *Reading complex words* (pp. 113-137). Amsterdam:Kluwer.
- Uccelli, P., Galloway, E. P., Barr, C. D., Meneses, A., & Dobbs, C. L. (2015). Beyond vocabulary: Exploring cross-disciplinary academic-language proficiency and its association with reading comprehension. *Reading Research Quarterly*, *50*(3), 337-356. doi:10.1002/rrq.104
- U.S. Department of Education. National Center for Education Statistics. Institute of Education Sciences. (2013). English Language Learners. *The Condition of Education 2013* (2013-037). <<a href="https://nces.ed.gov/pubs2013/2013037.pdf">https://nces.ed.gov/pubs2013/2013037.pdf</a>>
- U.S. Department of Education. National Center for Education Statistics. Institute of Education Sciences. (2017). English Language Learners in public schools. *The Condition of Education 2017* (2017-144). <<a href="https://nces.ed.gov/pubs2017/2017144.pdf">https://nces.ed.gov/pubs2017/2017144.pdf</a>>
- Vaughn, S., Martinez, L. R., Linan-Thompson, S., Reutebuch, C. K., Carlson, C. D., & Francis,
  D. J. (2009). Enhancing social studies vocabulary and comprehension for seventh-grade
  English language learners: Findings from two experimental studies. *Journal of Research*on Educational Effectiveness, 2(4), 297-324. doi:10.1080/19345740903167018

- Verhoeven, L. (2000). Components in early second language reading and spelling. *Scientific Studies of Reading*, *4*, 313-330. doi:10.1207/S1532799XSSR0404\_4
- Verhoeven, L. (2011). Second language reading acquisition. In M. L. Kamil, P. D. Pearson, E.
  B. Moje, & P. P. Afflerbach (Eds.), *Handbook of reading research*, *Vol. IV*, (pp. 661-683). New York, NY: Taylor & Francis.
- Wagner, R. K., Muse, A. E., & Tannebaum, K. R. (2007). Promising avenues for better understanding implications of vocabulary development for reading comprehension. In R.
  K. Wagner, A. E. Muse, & K. R. Tannenbaum (Eds.), *Vocabulary acquisition: Implications for reading comprehension*, (pp. 276-291). New York, NY: Guilford Press.
- Wolter, J. A., & Collins, G. (2017). Morphological awareness intervention for students who struggle with language and literacy. *Perspectives on Language and Literacy*, 43(2), 17-22.
- Wolter, J. A., & Dilworth, V. (2014). The effects of a multilinguistic morphological awareness approach for improving language and literacy. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 47(1), 76-85. doi:10.1177/0022219413509972
- Wright, T. S., & Cervetti, G. N. (2017). A systematic review of the research on vocabulary instruction that impacts text comprehension. *Reading Research Quarterly*, 29, 761-779. doi:10.1002/rrq.163

Tables

Table 1.

Summary of Results from Study 1 Implementation Trial with Linguistically and Culturally

Diverse Emergent Bilinguals Who Were Recently Arrived Immigrants

	n	Proportion		t	p	Cohen's
		Mean	(SD)			d
		pre	post			
Roots Knowledge	20	.27 (.13)	.59 (.32)	4.76	.0001	1.06
Word Knowledge	20	.25 (.16)	.52 (.24)	6.77	<.0001	1.51
<b>Evaluation of Academic</b>	21	.61 (.11)	.76 (.12)	4.25	.0004	.93
Vocabulary						
Morphological Analysis	19	.34 (.12)	.53 (.23)	3.40	.0032	.78
Task						
Slasher Task (Target	20	42.15 (20.17)	69.15 (23.36)	10.0	<.0001	2.25
Words)						

Table 2.

Summary of Results from Study 2 Implementation Trial with Majority Spanish-English Emergent
Bilinguals Who Were US Born

	n	1	Proportion Mean (SD)		p	Cohen's d
		pre	post			
Roots Knowledge	72	.32 (.20)	.63 (.28)	10.20	<.0001	1.20
Word Knowledge	72	.33 (.17)	.57 (.25)	9.65	<.0001	1.14
Evaluation of Academic	73	.73 (.13)	.81 (.16)	4.79	<.0001	.56
Vocabulary						
Morphological Analysis	69	.42 (.14)	.60 (.20)	9.11	<.0001	1.1
Task						
Slasher Task (Target	63	38.27 (20.00)	60.57 (19.63)	11.88	<.0001	1.5
Words)	=					

## **Descriptions of Supplemental Files**

- S1. Supplemental Figure 1 illustrates how students are guided to make connections between high-frequency words in Spanish or other Latinate languages to support learning of Latin roots.
- S2. Supplemental Figure 2 illustrates how students are taught to take a problem-solving stance using Latin roots to infer meanings unfamiliar words. In addition to the target academic word, students use the target root meaning to analyze the meaning of a new academic word, creating semantic connections and expanding vocabulary growth.
- S3. Supplemental Figure 3 illustrates how students are taught use target root meanings to analyze meanings of additional root-related words, futher expanding semantic connections and promoting vocabulary growth.
- S4. Supplemental Figure 4 illustrates how students are taught use target root meanings to analyze meanings of additional root-related words.
- S5 Supplemental Figure 5 illustrates how students are taught use target root meanings to analyze meanings of additional root-related words.
- S6. Supplemental Figure 6 presents an example of a review activity to provide an opportunity for active processing of previously taught target words from several instructional cycles.

## **Supplemental Material S1.**

#### Spanish Friend (1 minute) (Word Roots Chart)

Point to the Latin branch of the Indo-European trunk on the Language Family Tree to remind students why many words in the Latin branch of the Language Family Tree have Latin roots. Tell students that they are going to learn the Spanish friend for the root dic/dict.

Write the word *dice* on the class chart and have the students add the Spanish Friend to their Word Roots Chart. Ask the students:

- Does anyone know what this Spanish word means? Give the meaning if necessary.
   [See the information chart below.]
- What is the connection between the meaning of the Spanish word and the meaning
  of the root? Guide students to the idea that the meaning of the Spanish word is so close to
  the meaning of the root that knowing the word can help you remember the root.
- Do you know of any friends with these roots from other languages? [Students who
  speak other Romance languages might notice additional connections to the Latin roots.
  The information chart below will help you confirm these connections. If students
  volunteer friends in other languages, ask them what the word means and how it connects
  to the root.]

Note: The charts below are a resource for the teacher.

Information about the Spanish friend word

Root Meaning	Root	Spanish Friend	Pronunciation	Meaning
tell/speak	dic/dict	dice	DEE - say	he says

Information about other possible Romance language friend words

normation about other possible Romanee language menu words				
Root	French	Italian	Portuguese	Romanian
dic/dict	dicter	indicare	indicar	indica

## Supplemental Material S2.

#### Make the Connection (8 minutes) (Student Book, p. 7)

Apply the root meaning to root-related words.

We have seen how the meaning of a Latin root can be a clue to help us remember the meaning of a vocabulary word and root-related word. Today, we're going to practice using the meaning of the root to help us figure out the meaning of one other word with each root.

#### Indicate: dic/dict

- Now let's figure out another root-related word with the same root as our word indicate.
   What is the root in indicate? Have students write the root beside the word.
- · Let's try with another root-related word: dictate.
- Ask a student to read the sentence: The dress code dictates what we can wear to school. Who sees a root hiding in dictates? Spell it. Box it.
- So, if the dress code dictates what students can wear to school, what does that mean? Guide students to the idea that when you dictate something to someone, you TELL them what they have to do.
- Write dictate on the chart in the root-related words column, and have students do the same. See the root d-i-c-t in all these words?

## Supplemental Material S3.

#### Using Clues to Figure Out Root-Related Words (8 minutes) (Student Book, p. 23)

Tell students that in this activity they have another opportunity to figure out the meaning of a new root-related word to add a fourth example to the group of words with a common root. Add the new root-related words to the class Word Roots Chart and have the students do the same.

As a group, they will:

- · box the root in the vocabulary word and all root-related words
- · write the meaning of the root on the line beside it
- use the meaning of the root and the clues in the sentence to figure out the meaning of the new root-related word
- · use the word and the information in the sentence to answer the question

1.	TARGET WORD: indicate	Root:	
1.	TARGET WORD: Indicate	ROOT:	

I contradicted my neighbor when he said climate change isn't real, and I said it is real.

[indicate is SAYING what something is; contradict is SAYING the opposite of what someone else says]

Was that a good idea?

## Supplemental Material S4.

#### Use the Latin Root with a Root-Related Word (3 minutes) (Student Book, p. 10)

- · Everyone, spell the root that means "truth." Let's try using v-e-r for a new word.
- · Let's look at the sentence and the picture of the fingerprint scanner.
- Ask a student to read the sentence: Some machines now use fingerprints to verify a person's identity. Who sees a root hiding in verify? Spell it. Box it.
- What does v-e-r mean? Have students write, "truth" underneath
  and draw an arrow from the root to the meaning.
- So, if the machine can use your fingerprint to verify your identity, what does that mean? Guide students to the idea that when you verify something you check it carefully to be sure it's TRUE.
- We call verify a root-related word since it has the same root as our word veracity.
   Write verify on the chart in the root-related words column, and have students do the same.
- See the root v-e-r in these words?

## Supplemental Material S5.

#### Use the Latin Root with a Root-Related Word (3 minutes) (Student Book, p. 13)

- · Everyone, spell the root that means "life." Let's try using v-i-v for a new word.
- · Let's look at the sentence and the picture of the girl jumping.
- Ask a student to read the sentence: Things are always exciting when Carla is with us because she is so vivacious. Who sees a root hiding in vivacious? Spell it. Box it.
- What does v-i-v mean? Have students write, "life" underneath and draw an arrow from the root to the meaning.



- So, if someone is vivacious, what does that mean?
   Guide students to the idea that someone vivacious is full of LIFE and fun to be around.
- We call vivacious a root-related word since it has the same root as our word survive.
   Write vivacious on the chart in the root-related words column, and have students do the
- · See the root v-i-v in these words?

# Supplemental Material S6.

EL-RAVE Student Materials		Review: Cycles 1-
Complete	the Sentence (10 minutes)	
1. The duration of the	was	
2. The consequences of her decision to	were that	
3. "That is very innovative!" she said, as you showed h	ner yourthat could	
l. It is a <b>priority</b> to	when you	
5. We reside in	21 No. 22	
5. Thewas confined i	72	
7. Thewere unified in	n the decision to	
3. Let's convene at	to discuss	
9. He was isolated from	when he	
10. The contemporaryis	very different from	
11. The teacher tries to incorporate	in	
12. The equivalent of	is	
13. The advocate came to the	to support	-
14. A significant number of	_complained about	